University of Montana

ScholarWorks at University of Montana

Graduate Student Theses, Dissertations, & Professional Papers

Graduate School

2001

American Indian culture as a potential intervening factor in Internet acceptance

Trina L. Finley The University of Montana

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.umt.edu/etd Let us know how access to this document benefits you.

Recommended Citation

Finley, Trina L., "American Indian culture as a potential intervening factor in Internet acceptance" (2001). *Graduate Student Theses, Dissertations, & Professional Papers.* 5414. https://scholarworks.umt.edu/etd/5414

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at ScholarWorks at University of Montana. It has been accepted for inclusion in Graduate Student Theses, Dissertations, & Professional Papers by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks at University of Montana. For more information, please contact scholarworks@mso.umt.edu.



Maureen and Mike MANSFIELD LIBRARY

The University of MOMLAMA

Permission is granted by the author to reproduce this material in its entirety, provided that this material is used for scholarly purposes and is properly cited in published works and reports.

Please check "Yes" or "No" and provide signature

Yes, I grant permission	
No, I do not grant permission	
Author's Signature: Chinc A. Anly	
Date: $5 - 11 - 01$	

Any copying for commercial purposes or financial gain may be undertaken only with the author's explicit consent.

8/98

AMERICAN INDIAN CULTURE AS A POTENTIAL INTERVENING FACTOR IN INTERNET ACCEPTANCE

By

Trina L. Finley

B.A., Stanford University, 1991

Presented in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of

Master of Business Administration

The University of Montana

May 2001

Approved by: Serson Dean, Graduate School

5-14-01

Date

UMI Number: EP40878

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



UMI EP40878

Published by ProQuest LLC (2014). Copyright in the Dissertation held by the Author.

Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC. All rights reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code



ProQuest LLC. 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106 - 1346 Finley, Trina L., MBA, May 2001

American Indian Culture as a Potential Intervening Factor in Internet Acceptance

Committee Chair: Dr. Jeffrey Shay

A great deal has been written on the various barriers to Internet acceptance on American Indian reservations. These barriers include training, education, content, infrastructure, and sovereignty issues, which are all either directly or indirectly linked to lack of Internet access in Indian Country. However, having access to this technology does not necessarily ensure that it will be used or used effectively. In fact, understanding why people or groups of people either accept or reject technology is something that has caught the attention of several researchers in recent years.

Meanwhile, the Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) has been widely accepted and used by researchers to gain a better understanding of the adoption and use of technology. The TAM asserts to predict technology acceptance based on two specific beliefs about the technology in question. However, the model has not taken into account the impact of various cultural dimensions on one's basic beliefs, which are largely determined based on fundamental values, or culture.

The purpose of this thesis is to further the literature and understanding of how dimensions of traditional American Indian culture act as a potential intervening factor in the constructs of the Technology Acceptance Model and, specifically, the impact on Internet acceptance. Responses were gathered from 102 tribal member employees of one reservation, and the measures and research hypotheses were analyzed using various tools in SPSS Version 10.0 for Windows. The results show that the degree to which tribal member employees subscribe to traditional American Indian culture, as determined by their isolation within the culture or exposure to other cultures and outside influences, do have a potential impact on Internet acceptance. These findings confirm the need for, and importance of, further research to determine how culture might influence the relationships between constructs in the TAM.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction	1
Conceptual Model & Research Hypotheses	1
Technology Acceptance Model Culture Intervenes in the Technology Acceptance Model Hofstede's Dimensions of Culture American Indian Culture on Hofstede's Dimensions of Culture	1 2 3
& The Impact on Technology Acceptance Variables for Comparisons & Hypotheses Summary of Review	4 11 13
Methodology	14
Securing Approval to Conduct the Study Operationalizing the Constructs Procedure	14 15 19
Results	21
Descriptive Statistics Construction of Data Sets for Hypothesis Testing Hypothesis Testing	21 22 22
Discussion	27
Limitations Recommendations	32 33
Conclusion	34
References	35
Appendix A: The Technology Acceptance Model	39
Appendix B: Cultural Extension of the Technology Acceptance Model	40
Appendix C: Tribal Council Approval to Conduct Study	41
Appendix D: The University of Montana Institutional Review Board Approval	42

Appendix E: Internet Acceptance Survey with Notes Regarding Adaptations

LIST OF TABLES

Table A: M	leans, Standard Deviations, and Correlation Table	21
Table 1a: A A	Analysis of Variance for Age Differences on Internet Acceptance Variables	23
Table 1b: N	Means and Standard Deviations for the Two Age Groups	23
Table 2a: A	Analysis of Variance for Educational Level Differences on internet Acceptance Variables	24
Table 2b: N	Means and Standard Deviations for the Two Education Groups	24
Table 3a: A	Analysis of Variance for Occupational Status Differences on internet Acceptance Variables	25
Table 3b: N	Means and Standard Deviations for the Two Occupation Groups	25
Table 4a: A	Analysis of Variance for Participation in Traditional Cultural Activities Differences on Internet Acceptance Variables	26
Table 4b: N	Means and Standard Deviations for the Two Participation Groups	26
Table 5a: A I	Analysis of Variance for Residence During Formative Years Differences on Internet Acceptance Variables	27
Table 5b: M I	Means and Standard Deviations for the Two Residence During Formative Years Groups	27

INTRODUCTION

Many people and groups of people are hesitant about new technologies, and understanding why they either accept or reject technology is difficult regardless of the person or groups of people who are under consideration (Swanson, 1988; Agarwal, et.al, 1999). Much of the literature referencing technology and, specifically, the Internet, in Indian Country has focused on issues of access, economic development and training, education, content, and sovereignty.¹ Although these forces are unquestionably impacting the rate of acceptance and usage of the Internet on American Indian reservations, it is likely that the cultural values of tribes have an impact as well. This possibility is evident in the voices of Two Horses (1998), Howe (1998), Savard (1998), Ereaux (1998), and Warner (1998), who warn against the potential cultural invasion imposed by the Internet. These authors warn of the cultural exploitation made possible through the massive reach of the Internet, the impact of low-context Internet communications on a traditional culture that values high-context, face-to-face communications, and other adverse impacts on tribes' efforts to preserve traditional cultural values on reservations.

CONCEPTUAL MODEL & RESEARCH HYPOTHESES

Technology Acceptance Model

The Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) provides a theoretical framework for understanding the relationship between computer technology acceptance and utilization among users (Davis, 1989). Although there are several such models, TAM is one of the

¹ <u>www.ncai.org/indianissues/DigitalDivide</u>, American Indians & the Digital Divide. Accessed January 2001. This site contains several links to articles addressing access, economic development and training, education, content, and sovereignty as it relates to Internet use in Indian Country. Maintained by the National Congress of American Indians.

most well-known and widely cited, and has been empirically supported in several studies (e.g., Taylor et. al., 1995; Doll et. al., 1998; and Agarwal et. al., 1999). The basic premise of TAM (Davis, 1986) is that two specific beliefs about technology, perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use, influence the potential user's attitude toward using the technology, which then influences the user's intention to use the technology, which subsequently results in actual usage. Perceived usefulness is defined by Davis et. al. (1989) as the degree to which a potential adopter sees the innovation as providing value over alternative means of performing the same task. He defines perceived ease of use as the degree to which a potential adopter sees usage of the technology to be relatively effortless (Davis, et. al, 1989). Both perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use could be influenced by external variables such as the level of support and the opinions of others. Appendix A depicts a graphical representation of the TAM developed by Davis et. al. (1989).

Culture Intervenes in the Technology Acceptance Model

The cultural values instilled in individuals undoubtedly provide the foundation for forming basic beliefs and attitudes. Therefore, culture is likely an important but overlooked element impacting technology acceptance and intervening in the Technology Acceptance Model. In fact, Straub et. al. (1997) asserted that managers should learn about cross-cultural issues in technology acceptance and use because addressing such issues can determine the degree of success in technology implementation. Veiga et. al. (1999) argued that "It is easier to achieve [technology] acceptance when one is appealed to in a way that is convincing and therefore consistent with one's values. Thus, gaining

acceptance of a new information technology is likely to be most effective when the organization uses culturally appropriate introduction and support processes."

Given that one's fundamental values, or cultural grounding, provide the foundation in establishing basic beliefs and attitudes, then the Technology Acceptance Model is not complete without consideration for the possible effects of cultural differences on technology acceptance. Geert Hofstede (1993) has provided a comprehensive definition of culture along with several dimensions of culture. Although Hofstede has proposed and adopted five different dimensions of culture – collectivism versus individualism, power distance, uncertainty avoidance, femininity vs. masculinity, and time orientation – this project will focus on the dimensions of collectivism versus individualism, power distance, and uncertainty avoidance, and these dimensions will be further discussed in the following subsection.

Hofstede's Dimensions of Culture

Hofstede defines culture in terms of the mental programming that distinguishes one group of humans from another and for which values serve as the foundation (Hofstede, 1984). "The sources of one's mental programs lie within the social environments in which one grew up and collected one's life experiences. The programming starts within the family; it continues within the neighborhood, at school, in youth groups, at the work place, and in the living community" (Hofstede, 1991). Hofstede's dimensions are not meant to be absolute measures of culture, but instead are proposed by Hofstede for the purpose of relative comparisons of different cultural groups (Hofstede, 1991).

Hofstede defines the three dimensions used in this study as follows (Hostede, 1993): Individualism vs. Collectivism: Individualism is the degree to which people prefer to act as individuals rather than as members of a group. Collectivism is low individualism.

Uncertainty Avoidance: The degree to which people prefer structured situations, in which there are clear rules for how one should behave.

Power Distance: The degree to which inequality among people is considered acceptable and even expected.

American Indian Culture on Hofstede's Cultural Dimensions & The Impact on Technology Acceptance

Although American Indians reside within the mainstream United States and are often considered part of the western culture, tribes have traditionally been separate nations with non-mainstream cultural values. The differences between traditional American Indian culture and the mainstream culture of the United States, which dominates more than 90 percent of what is available on the Internet (Kotler, 1996), are likely to impact the rate of Internet acceptance on American Indian reservations, just as it has in other non-Western communities. For example, although Japan leads the world in the production of computers, it trails the other G-7 nations in the application of this technology (Hedley, 1998). This phenomenon is attributed largely to differences in the Japanese culture, which is paternalistic, formalized, and relies on face-to-face communication, and the Internet culture, which is influenced by the mainstream United States values of individualism and egalitarianism (Hedley, 1998). Therefore, it is predicted that American Indian tribes, like other clearly distinct cultural groups, will either accept or reject new technology, specifically the Internet, based on the degree to which they hold their traditional cultural values.

There are currently 554 federally recognized tribes in the United States.² Each of these tribes is different from the others in many ways, including language, geographical location, and practices. However, most are also culturally similar in sharing larger aspects of their culture, and the overall pattern of culture still separates them, as a group, from non-Indians (Cornell, 1987).

Efforts were made in this thesis to limit cultural comparisons in the Hofstede framework based on those elements of American Indian culture that are largely universal between tribes. Additionally, efforts were also taken to rely heavily on literature authored by American Indian authors and those who have worked closely in American Indian communities. Again, the Hofstede model is not meant to measure absolutes, but rather to examine cultural relativism. Similarly, it is likely that although the scale for tribes, in general, will tip the balance in a common direction on each of the dimensions discussed, it is also likely that each tribe will be somewhat different relative to others. American Indian Culture: Individualism vs. Collectivism. In individualistic societies, everyone is expected to take care of him/herself and his/her immediate family; in collectivist societies, people are socialized from birth to be part of a strong, cohesive group, and "family" is extended family (Hofstede, 1991). In American Indian communities, children learn from birth the importance of family and the foundations of relationship and kinship (Cajete, 1994). The extended family, even through the most remote family tie, is central (Gilliland et. al., 1988, Light et. al., 1986). The needs of the tribe are more important than individual needs or desires (Sanders, 1987). This obligation to the tribe is particularly true where one's family or clan is concerned. In

² "Labor Market Information On the Indian Labor Force: A National Report," U.S. Bureau of Indian Affairs, 1997.

fact, all tribal members consider themselves to have an obligation to assist their families throughout their lives, and this inherent duty is more important than anything else (Oppelt, 1989).

In collectivist cultures, obligations to the family include active participation in family occasions such as baptisms, marriages, and, especially, funerals. This element of collectivism also applies to American Indian culture, where children learn proper behavior at traditional ceremonies from a young age (Cajete, 1994), and emphasis is placed on family, spirituality, and ceremonies (Gilliland et. al., 1988; Smith, 1994; Oppelt, 1989). In fact, American Indians will often travel hundreds of miles for a wake and funeral. These ceremonies often take several days, and most traditional American Indians will stay for the duration, even if this means missing important school or work deadlines. Again, family comes first.

Collectivism is apparent in societies where resources are shared with family and community, and the economy is based on collective interests (Hofstede, 1991). Most Tribes place high value on sharing and giving, which is built into the culture through traditional redistribution of resources and wealth through giveaways (Cornell, 1987; Trosper, 1995; Black, 1996). American Indian culture typically emphasizes teamwork and group cooperation rather than individual competition (Oppelt, 1989). One of the strongest values in most American Indian communities is this: the bottom line is whatever most benefits the tribe and contributes to the success of its community (Cornell, 1987; Smith, 1994).

American Indian Collectivism & Technology Acceptance. It is clear from the above discussion that traditional American Indian culture is predominantly oriented toward

collectivism. Like all other values that are inherent within one's culture, this value placed on collectivism is brought to the workplace. Contrary to collectivism, the Internet encourages individual communication with little feedback about the social acceptance of such communication. It is low-context, while those who are oriented toward collectivism, such as American Indians holding traditional cultural values, are highcontext, preferring face-to-face communication with non-verbal cues and group acceptance. Therefore, members of cultural groups such as traditional American Indians who are highly collectivist are more likely to be resistant to Internet acceptance.

American Indian Culture: Uncertainty Avoidance. In low uncertainty avoidance cultures, the expectation is that aggression and emotions should not be shown (Hofstede, 1991). In many American Indian communities, it is inappropriate for a person to openly express strong feelings (Gilliland et. al., 1988). Time is simply a framework for orientation, and punctuality is generally less important in low uncertainty avoidance cultures (Hofstede, 1991). Among members of the American Indian community, the concept of "Indian time" is well-known and accepted. Life should be enjoyable and patience is truly a valued virtue, so there is no need to live by the clock (Gilliland et. al., 1988). In fact, this is often evident even in conversation, where American Indian etiquette often includes a lapse of time for consideration of what another has said, followed by a thoughtful and deliberate answer (Gilliland et. al., 1988).

Low uncertainty avoidance cultures also value tolerance and moderation, have positive attitudes towards young people, and belief that one group's truth should not be pushed onto others nor should anyone be persecuted for their beliefs (Hofstede, 1991). Most American Indians are raised to have an appreciation of differences and a deep

respect for privacy, to believe that children are a special and sacred gift from the Creator (Cajete, 1994), and that one should only gather and take what is needed for survival without excess or waste (Cajete, 1994; Trosper, 1995; Black, 1996).

Based on the above cultural aspects within American Indian culture, one might draw the conclusion that American Indian culture is low in uncertainty avoidance. Traditionally, this is the case for many tribes, and this characteristic still rings true within American Indian communities in relations with one another. However, during the past 170 years, tribes have struggled to even survive under policies and practices of the United States government and mainstream American society, including the Indian Removal Act of 1830 (Fey et. al., 1959; McCluskey, 1997; Zinn, 1995; Casey et. al., 1999); the Homestead Act of 1862 (Fey et. al., 1959); the General Allotment Act of 1887 (Fey et. al., 1959; McCluskey, 1997; Casey et. al., 1999); the Bureau of Indian Affairs' Relocation Program started in 1951 (Fey et. al., 1959; Casey et. al., 1999); termination laws passed in 1954 (Fey et. al., 1959; McCluskey, 1997; Casey et. al., 1999); broken or illegitimate treaties (Hoxie, 1994; Zinn, 1995), ongoing assimilation efforts (Smith, 1994; Casey et. al., 1999), and stereotyped imagery and biased and inaccurate historical accounts (Hirschfelder et. al., 1999). Therefore, I would argue that, although tribes are low in uncertainty avoidance in interactions with one another, these exploitive experiences across several generations with non-Indians have likely resulted in many tribes being largely high in uncertainty avoidance in interactions with others who are non-Indian. In fact, Oppelt (1989) argues that American Indians have good reason to distrust non-Indians of European decent and, therefore, tend to be sensitive to any indication of manipulation by whites. Furthermore, American Indians generally only

participate in activities after long observations to establish a sense of certainty in their abilities regarding such activities (Sanders, 1987). This further supports that American Indian culture is largely high in uncertainty avoidance in dealings with non-Indians or non-Indian institutions.

American Indian Uncertainty Avoidance & Technology Acceptance. More than 90 percent of what is available on the Internet is said to be dominated by mainstream American culture (Kotler, 1996). Meanwhile, American Indians tend to be distrustful and high in uncertainty avoidance in dealings with mainstream, white America. Therefore, traditional American Indian cultures, having subscribed to high uncertainty avoidance in relation to non-Indian people and institutions, will be more resistant toward the Internet.

American Indian Culture: Power Distance. In small power distance cultures, inequalities among people should be minimized, there is interdependence between less and more powerful people, and hierarchy in organizations means an inequality of roles established simply for convenience (Hofstede, 1991). Traditionally, leaders within many tribes rise to leadership status based on their service to the tribe (Cajete, 1994). Leadership positions are earned through service to the tribe as well as demonstrating a level of integrity beyond reproach. Decisions within many tribes are made by consensus (Trosper, 1995). Pluralist forms of government based on majority rule are the norm in low power distance cultures, while autocratic or oligarchic forms of government are the norm in high power distance societies (Hofstede, 1991). Although most tribes are generous and non-competitive with flatter hierarchical forms of government (Black, 1996), the actual form of government varies by tribe. In traditional American Indian

communities, before the outside influence of Euro-Americans, many tribes had a direct democratic form of government in which decisions were made in "town hall meeting" style (Lopach et. al., 1998). Still, to other tribes, the rule of majority was a foreign concept (Fey et. al., 1959).

Although the various characteristics used to describe low power distance and high power distance cultures vary largely depending on the tribe, one aspect of American Indian culture that is strongly held universally among tribes is the respect one is to show elders within the general community and in the family, beginning with older siblings and extending upward and outward from the parents. Elders are respected for their experience and knowledge (Gilliland et. al., 1988; Cajete, 1994). In fact, American Indian children and young adults are taught and expected to be quiet in the presence of elders to show their respect (Oppelt, 1989). This is a characteristic of high power distance, in which children are raised with respect for parents and elders as a basic virtue, even into and through adulthood (Hofstede, 1991). For American Indians universally, respect for elders is one of the most strongly held values.

American Indian Power Distance & Technology Acceptance. Applying the universally accepted American Indian virtue of respect for elders to superiors in the workplace, it is likely that most traditional American Indians also accept high power distance between managers and employees on the job. Straub et. al. (1997) argues that "In societies in which managers and workers are separated by a large power distance, the leveling effect of the computer-based media is not seen or felt as a desirable feature." Therefore, traditional American Indian employees who are most accepting of this traditional cultural value will be less likely to accept the Internet.

Variables for Comparison & Hypotheses

Age, Traditional American Indian Cultural Values, & Internet Acceptance.

Younger people within many cultures are more likely to question traditional values and explore alternative ideas and ways of doing things. In particular, younger groups of people within the American Indian community are further removed from the times when traditional practices were a daily part of life or struggles to survive as a people kept tribes bonded and, subsequently, isolated from other cultures. Therefore, American Indian tribal member employees in younger age groups are less likely to have internalized the traditional American Indian values of collectivism, uncertainty avoidance, and power distance. This argument results in the following hypothesis.

Hypothesis 1: Younger groups of tribal member employees of a reservation are more likely to accept the Internet than older tribal member employees of the same tribe.

Educational Level, Traditional American Indian Cultural Values, & Internet

Acceptance. Tribal member employees who have completed higher levels of formal education are more likely to have left their reservations to attain this education. Therefore, they are also more likely to have interacted with people from other cultures at their respective institutions of higher education, engaged in more extensive exchanges of differing ideas, and become more open to learning new methods of accomplishing tasks. As a result, tribal member employees with higher levels of formal education are more likely to be influenced by values outside of the traditional American Indian values of collectivism, uncertainty avoidance, and power distance. This results in the second hypothesis.

Hypothesis 2: Tribal member employees of a reservation that have completed higher levels of formal education are more likely to accept the Internet than those tribal member employees of the same tribe with less formal education.

Occupational Status, Traditional American Indian Cultural Values, & Internet

Acceptance. Tribal member employees who are in managerial or professional positions are more likely to travel off their reservations for meetings, trainings, conferences, etc. As a result, they are more likely to engage with individuals and groups of people from other backgrounds, holding various cultural values. Additionally, they are likely to have higher incomes, affording them more opportunities to engage in off-reservation activities. Therefore, tribal member employees who hold managerial or professional positions are less likely be isolated within the traditional values of collectivism, uncertainty avoidance, and power distance. This provides the basis for the following hypothesis.

Hypothesis 3: Tribal member employees of a reservation serving in managerial or professional positions are more likely to accept the Internet than tribal member employees of the same tribe who are in lower status positions.

Participation in Traditional Activities, Traditional American Indian Cultural

Values, & Internet Acceptance. Tribal member employees who actively participate in activities that are considered traditional cultural activities and events within their respective tribe(s) are anticipated to place a higher value on traditional cultural values as well. As a result, these same employees are more likely to internalize the traditional American Indian values of collectivism, uncertainty avoidance, and power distance. The next hypothesis results from this argument.

Hypothesis 4: Tribal member employees of a reservation who actively participate in traditional cultural activities are less likely to accept the Internet than tribal member employees of the same tribe who are less involved in traditional cultural activities.

Residence During Formative Years, American Indian Cultural Values, & Internet Acceptance. Tribal member employees who grew up on the reservation most of their formative years, between ages one and fourteen years old, are more likely to have been raised in an environment where traditional cultural values are emphasized. Furthermore, they are more likely to have been exposed to tribal elders who are able to communicate these traditional values, while their counterparts raised off the reservation are more likely to be exposed to people with various other cultural values. Therefore, tribal member employees who grew up most of their formative years on the reservation are more likely to have internalized the traditional cultural values of collectivism, uncertainty avoidance, and power distance. The final hypothesis is based on this argument.

Hypothesis 5: Tribal member employees of a reservation having grown up primarily on the reservation during their formative years are less likely to accept the Internet than tribal member employees of the same tribe who have grown up primarily off the reservation.

Summary of Review

The Technology Acceptance Model developed by Davis (1989) is a widely tested and accepted model for predicting technology acceptance. However, because individual's and group's beliefs and attitudes are based on their fundamental values, or culture, the Technology Acceptance Model is not complete without consideration for cultural variables. In fact, Veiga et. al. (1999) argue that cultural dimensions are important

variables in technology acceptance and should be included in the Technology Acceptance Model. Appendix B shows a graphical depiction of the Veiga et. al. model. The five hypotheses proposed in this thesis are based on the degree to which dimensions of traditional American Indian culture impact constructs in Davis' Technology Acceptance Model in the context of Internet acceptance on American Indian reservations. These five hypotheses were then tested using an Internet Acceptance Survey developed for this thesis and administered to over 100 tribal member employees of a tribe on a specific reservation. This research is discussed in the next section.

METHODOLOGY

Securing Approval to Conduct the Study

Before surveys to test the hypotheses could be distributed to prospective participants, approval was sought from various bodies with an interest in the methods and results of the research. The first of these were the culture and elder committees on the reservation chosen for data collection. Tribes commonly establish these types of committees or commissions to preserve cultural integrity in decisions under consideration by or potentially affecting tribes or tribal members. Once adaptations were made based on the concerns of these organizations and approval was granted, permission to conduct the study on the reservation chosen was requested from the respective tribal council, which was granted in writing by a majority vote (see Appendix C). Finally, approval was sought and granted by The University of Montana Institutional Review Board (see Appendix D).

Operationalizing the Constructs

To operationalize the constructs, the work of several different researchers was used. The researchers from whom instruments were borrowed included Chau (1996), Davis (1989), Mathieson et. al. (1991), Thompson et. al. (1991), and Veiga (2000). Each instrument was found by its respective researcher to be both a valid and reliable measure of the intended variable. Constructs for perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, attitude toward use, behavioral intention to use, and actual usage (frequency of use) were included in the instrument based on their direct link to the Technology Acceptance Model. Additionally, external variables including intention to use, subjective norms, and level of support were included as additional factors that might be barriers to system use (Mathieson et. al, 1991).

Although exact replications of many of the instruments were not possible because of the different contexts for which the measures were originally designed, in most cases only slight changes in wording were made to fit the specific technology – the Internet – under consideration. Altogether, 35 items were either modified or used directly from previously developed instruments. Appendix E shows all of the measurement scale items that were ultimately selected for use, along with notes identifying modifications from the original instruments as well as the introduction and instructions provided to respondents. Demographic data regarding age, education level, occupation, residency during formative years, and involvement in traditional cultural activities were gathered for the purpose of testing the thesis hypotheses. Gender of respondents was also gathered to ensure representation in the study of both males and females.

Perceived Near-Term Usefulness. Adaptations from Chau's (1996) six-item perceived near-term usefulness scale, which were adapted from Davis' (1989) six-item perceived usefulness scale, were used to assess respondent self-reports of the degree to which the respondent perceived the Internet to be useful. Respondents were asked to indicate the extent to which they agreed that using the Internet is useful to them in their workplace in the near-term. A sample item was, "The Internet makes it easier to do my job." Response choices ranged from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). The Cronbach alpha for this scale was .96.

Perceived Long-Term Usefulness. Adaptations from Chau's (1996) four-item scale, which were adapted from Thompson's (1991) six-item long-term consequences scale, were used to assess respondent self-reports of the degree to which the respondent perceived the Internet to be useful in the long-term. Respondents were asked to indicate the extent to which they agreed that using the Internet would be useful to them in their workplace in the long-term. A sample item was, "Knowledge of the Internet will increase my flexibility of changing jobs." Response choices ranged from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). The Cronbach alpha for this scale was .90.

Perceived Ease of Use. Adaptations from Chau's (1996) six-item perceived ease of use scale, which were adapted from Davis' (1989) six-item perceived ease of use scale, were used to assess respondent self-reports of the degree to which the respondent perceived the Internet to be easy to use. Respondents were asked to indicate the extent to which they agreed that it is easy to use the Internet. A sample item was, "Learning the Internet was easy for me." Response choices ranged from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). The Cronbach alpha for this scale was .96.

Attitude Toward Using. Adaptations from Mathieson's (1991) three-item scale were used to assess respondent self-reports of the degree to which the respondent had a positive attitude toward the Internet. Respondents were asked to indicate the extent to which they agreed that the Internet is better than the previous means of gathering and sharing information. A sample item was, "I think the Internet is much better than previous means of gathering and sharing information." Response choices ranged from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). The Cronbach alpha for this scale was .91.

Behavioral Intention to Use. Adaptations from Chau's (1996) two-item scale were used to assess respondent self-reports of the degree to which the respondent had the behavioral intention to use the Internet. Respondents were asked to indicate the extent to which they agreed that they had the behavioral intention to use the Internet. A sample item was, "I always try to use the Internet to do a task whenever it has a feature to help me perform it." Response choices ranged from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). The Cronbach alpha for this scale was .91.

Intention to Use. Adaptations from Mathieson's (1991) three-item scale based upon the theory of planned behavior, and as adapted by Veiga (2000), were used to assess respondent self-reports of the degree to which the respondent had the intention to use the Internet. Respondents were asked to indicate the extent to which they agreed that they had the intention to use the Internet. A sample item was, "I have every intention of adopting the Internet in my work." Response choices ranged from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). The Cronbach alpha for this scale was .92.

Subjective Norms. Adaptations from Mathieson's (1991) three-item scale based upon the theory of planned behavior were used to assess respondent self-reports of the degree

to which the respondent identifies barriers to Internet use based on opinions of groups who might be important to the respondent. Respondents were asked to indicate the extent to which they agreed that these potential groups support the respondent's use of the Internet. A sample item was, "People whose opinions I value would prefer me to use the Internet rather than the previous means of gathering and sharing information." Response choices ranged from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). The Cronbach alpha for this scale was .86.

Level of Support. Adaptations from Veiga's (2000) six-item scale, which were based primarily on Thompson's (1991) four-item social factors scale and four-item facilitating conditions scale, were used to assess respondent self-reports of the degree to which the respondent received support to acquire the skills necessary to utilize the Internet. Respondents were asked to indicate the extent to which they agreed that they have received the support and/or tools necessary to understand and utilize the Internet. A sample item was, "I have received sufficient training to understand the Internet." Response choices ranged from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). The Cronbach alpha for this scale was .91.

Frequency of Use. Adaptations from Veiga's (2000) two-item scale, based on Chau's (1996) and Thompson's (1991) work, were used to assess respondent self-reports of the degree to which the respondent actually uses the Internet. Respondents were asked to indicate the extent to which they agreed that they utilize the Internet. A sample item was, "I currently use the Internet frequently." Response choices ranged from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). The Cronbach alpha for this scale was .92.

Procedure

Instrumentation. The final measurement tool used to test the thesis hypotheses was the collaboration of adaptations, previously mentioned, from Chau (1996), Davis (1989), Mathieson et. al. (1991), Thompson et. al. (1991), and Veiga (2000). The resulting instrument (see Appendix E – minus measure labels and notes) was administered to participants and designed to measure Internet acceptance by American Indian tribal member employees of one reservation – determined by attitude toward the Internet, behavioral intention to use the Internet, intention to use the Internet, and frequency of use (actual usage) – as affected by perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use, with consideration of subjective norms and level of support for Internet use. Demographics information on age, educational level, occupational status, reservation residence during formative years, and the extent of involvement in traditional cultural activities were also gathered for the necessary comparisons to test the thesis hypotheses. The gender demographic question was included to ensure that respondents represented both males and females.

Description of the Subjects. Participants for the study included tribal member employees of the specific reservation asked to participate in the thesis study. The reservation was chosen for participation in the study because it has a large employee base working for the tribe and over 4,000 tribal members that reside within the exterior boundaries of the reservation. Respondents were asked to participate if they met the following criteria: 1) tribal member of the specific reservation's tribe(s), 2) employee of that reservation's tribe(s), and 3) access to the Internet in the workplace. Participants included men, 26 percent, and women, 74 percent.

Gathering Respondent Data. The method used to gather data was through the distribution of surveys. Fourteen (14) tribal offices were involved in the study. Upon approval from a facility representative, potential respondents were approached and asked if they would be willing to participate in the survey, which was determined to take an average of ten (10) minutes to complete. Participants who agreed to participate were then asked to read the introduction to the Internet Acceptance Survey, in which they were reminded that their responses would be confidential and anonymous and that their participation was voluntary such that they could terminate the survey at any time. Completed surveys were retrieved from the respondents on the same day in which they were distributed. No identifying information was retained that would connect any respondent to his/her responses.

Sample. A total of 107 respondents agreed to participate in the study. Of these, 105 surveys were adequately completed, meaning that each item on the survey was completed but no item contained more than one response. Of these surveys, 102 were tribal members on the reservation involved. This resulted in a response rate of 95 percent of usable surveys.

The majority of the respondents had an education level of some college, with zero (0) having some high school, seven (7) high school degrees, forty (40) with some college, twenty-one (21) college associate's degrees, thirteen (13) college bachelor's degrees, four (4) with some graduate school, nine (9) graduate school degrees, and eight (8) with other types of education such as trade schools, vocational education, etc. The overwhelming majority – 80 percent – had been raised during their formative years, between ages one and fourteen years old, on the reservation, with the remainder, only 20 percent, growing

up off the reservation. Managers made of up 23 percent of the respondents, while 33 percent of the respondents were professionals, 13 percent were paraprofessionals, and 31 percent were clerical employees. Females made up 75 of the total 102 respondents, and males made up the remaining 27 respondents. The majority of respondents were between the ages of 41 and 50 years old, with seventeen (17) between 21 and 30 years old, twenty-four (24) between 31 and 40 years old, forty-three (43) between 41 and 50 years old, fifteen (15) between 51 and 60 years old, and three (3) over 60 years old. Those respondents considered to be active in traditional cultural activities, meaning they had an average score above the mean of 2.68 on the scale to measure participation in traditional cultural activities, made up 46 percent of the respondents. Meanwhile, those considered less active in traditional cultural activities, meaning an average score below the mean, made up 55 percent.

RESULTS

Descriptive Statistics

Table A provides descriptive statistics and a correlation matrix for the 102 responses used to compare the impact of the hypotheses variables on Internet acceptance.

Table A: Means, Standard Deviations, and Correlation Table

	Mean	Std. Dev.	1	2	3	4	5	6
1 Age	.60	0.49						
2 Education	.47	0.50	0.05					
3 Occupational status	.44	0.50	-0.12	-0.32**				
4 Cultural involvement	.46	0.50	0.00	-0.04	0.17			
5 Attitude toward use	3.95	0.84	-0.10	0.24*	-0.29**	-0.04		
6 Intention to use	3.49	0.84	-0.10	0.30**	-0.30**	0.09	0.64**	
7 Frequency of use Notes: *p<.05, **p<.01	3.08	1.20	-0.20*	0.26**	-0.35**	0.17	0.56**	0.75**

Age variable: 21-40 coded as "0", 41 and older coded as "1"

Education variable: Less than college degree coded as "0", college degree and higher coded as "1" Position variable: Manager/Professional coded as "0", Paraprofessional/Clerical coded as "1" Cultural involvement variable: Mean =2.68, lower than mean coded as "0", higher than mean coded as "1"

Construction of Data Sets for Hypothesis Testing

Internet acceptance is measured in the analysis based on attitude toward use, intention to use, and frequency of use variables, which are the three acceptance variables in the Technology Acceptance Model. Each of the remaining hypotheses variables is also defined in this sub-section. First, the age variable was broken into two age categories for comparison – 21 to 40 years old for the younger group and over 40 years old for the older group. Next, the education variable was also categorized into two levels of education for comparison – completion of a college degree or higher and less than a college degree. Third, the occupational status data were categorized into two sets – manager/professional and paraprofessional/clerical. Fourth, participants were categorized as either active in traditional cultural activities (above the mean) or less active in traditional cultural activities (below the mean). Finally, respondents were categorized into two comparison groups based on their residence during their formative years – having grown up primarily on the reservation and having grown up primarily off the reservation.

Hypothesis Testing

Hypothesis 1. Tables 1a and 1b provide the results from ANOVA tests and the means and standard deviations for each of the respondent groups based on age. A significant difference was not found between the 21-40 and 41+ age groups on either the "Attitude toward use" or "Intention to use" variables (p>.05 in both cases). However, a significant difference (p<.05) was found between these age groups on their "Frequency of use". Based on the means for each age group and ANOVA results, it is clear that the younger age group (age = 21 to 40) has a significantly higher frequency of use (mean=3.66) than the older age group's (age = 41+) frequency of use (mean=2.66). These findings are

consistent with the significant correlation found only between age and frequency of use in Table A above. Thus, partial support was found for Hypothesis 1.

Table 1a:Analysis of Variance for Age Differences onInternet Acceptance Variables

Variable		Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
attitude toward use	Between Groups	0.66	1	0.66	0.93	0.34
	Within Groups	70.77	100	0.71		
	Total	71.42	101			
intention to use	Between Groups	0.66	1	0.66	0.93	0.34
	Within Groups	70.67	100	0.71		
	Total	71.33	101			0.05
frequency of use	Between Groups	5.66	1	5.66	4.04	
	Within Groups	140.21	100	1.40		
	Total	145.87	101			

Table 1b:								
Means	and	Standard	Deviations	for	the	Two	Age	Groups

Variable	Group	NN	Mean	Std. Deviation
attitude toward use	21-40	41	4.05	0.84
	40+	61	3.89	0.84
	Total	102	3.95	0.84
intention to use	21-41	41	3.59	0.86
	40+	61	3.43	0.83
	Total	102	3.49	0.84
frequency of use	21-42	41	3.37	1.10
	40+	61	2.89	1.24
	Total	102	3.08	1.20

Hypothesis 2. Tables 2a and 2b provide the results from ANOVA tests and the means and standard deviations for each of the respondent groups based on education. A significant difference (p<.001 to p<.01) was found between the college degree or higher and less than college degree education groups and their "Attitude toward use" (p<.01), "Intention to use" (p<.001) and "Frequency of use" (p<.01). Based on the means for each education group and ANOVA results, it is clear that the higher education level group (education = college degree or higher) has a significantly higher attitude toward use (mean=4.17) than the lower education level group's (education = less than college degree) attitude toward use (mean=3.76); the higher education level group has a significantly higher intention to use (mean=3.76) than the lower education level group's intention to use (mean=3.25); and the higher education level group has a significantly higher frequency of use (mean=3.41) than the lower education level group's frequency of use (mean=2.79). These findings are consistent with the significant correlation found between education and attitude toward use, intention to use, and frequency of use in Table A above. Thus, support was found for Hypothesis 2.

 Table 2a:

 Analysis of Variance for Educational Level Differences on Internet Acceptance Variables

Variable		Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
attitude toward use	toward use Between Groups 4.22	1	4.22	6.28	0.01	
	Within Groups	67.20	100	0.67		
	Total	71.42	101			
Intention to use	Between Groups	6.63	1	6.63	10.24	0.001
	Within Groups	64.71	100	0.65		
	Total	71.33	101	· · · · · · · ·		
frequency of use	Between Groups	9.74	1	9.74	7.16	0.01
	Within Groups	136.13	100	1.36		
	Total	145.87	101			

Variable	Group	<u> </u>	Mean	Std. Deviation
attitude toward use	Less than college degree	54	3.76	0.88
	College degree or higher	48	4.17	0.75
	Total	102	3.95	0.84
Intention to use	Less than college degree	54	3.25	0.87
	College degree or higher	48	3.76	0.72
· ·	Total	102	3.49	0.84
frequency of use	Less than college degree	54	2.79	1.11
	College degree or higher	48	3.41	1.23
	Total	102	3.08	1.20

Table 2b:Means and Standard Deviations for the Two Education Groups

Hypothesis 3. Tables 3a and 3b provide the results from ANOVA tests and the means

and standard deviations for each of the respondent groups based on occupation status. A

significant difference (p<.0003 to p<.002) was found between the

managerial/professional and paraprofessional/clerical occupation groups and their

"Attitude toward use" (p<.002), "Intention to Use" (p<.002) and "Frequency of use"

(p<.0003). Based on the means for each occupation group and ANOVA results, it is clear

that the higher status occupation group (occupation = manager or professional) has a

significantly higher attitude toward use (mean=4.17) than the lower status occupation group's (occupation = paraprofessional or clerical) attitude toward use (mean=3.67); the higher status occupation group has a significantly higher intention to use (mean=3.72) than the lower status occupation group's intention to use (mean=3.21); and the higher status occupation group has a significantly higher frequency of use (mean=3.45) than the lower status occupation group's frequency of use (mean=2.61). These findings are consistent with the significant correlation found between occupation and attitude toward use, intention to use, and frequency of use in Table A above. Thus, support was found for Hypothesis 3.

Table 3a:Analysis of Variance for Occupational Status Differences onInternet Acceptance Variables

Variable		Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
attitude toward use	Between Groups	6.17	1	6.17	9.46	0.002
	Within Groups	65.25	100	0.65		
	Total	71.42	101			_
Intention to use	Between Groups	6.46	1	6.46	9,96	0.002
	Within Groups	64.87	100	0.65		
	Total	71.33	101			
frequency of use	Between Groups	17.59	1	17.59	13.71	0.0003
	Within Groups	128.29	100	1.28		•
	Total	145.87	101			

Table 3b:

Means and Standard Deviations for the Two Occupation Groups

Variable	Group	N	Mean	Std. Deviation
attitude toward use	Manager/professional	57	4.17	0.74
	Paraprofessiona/clerical	45	3.67	0.89
	Total	102	3.95	0.84
intention to use	Manager/professional	57	3.72	0.79
	Paraprofessiona/clerical	45	3.21	0.83
	Total	102	3.49	0.84
frequency of use	Manager/professional	57	3.45	1.15
	Paraprofessiona/clerical	45	2.61	1.11
	Total	102	3.08	1.20

Hypothesis 4. Tables 4a and 4b provide the results from ANOVA tests and the means and standard deviations for each of the respondent groups based on participation in traditional cultural activities. No significant difference was found between the active participant (participation = respondents higher than the participation mean of 2.68) and the less active participant (participation = respondents lower than the participation mean of 2.68) groups on the "Attitude toward use," "Intention to use," or "Frequency of use" variables (p>.05 in all three cases). Thus, no support was found for Hypothesis 4.

Table 4a: Analysis of Variance for Participation in Traditional Cultural Activities Differences on Internet Acceptance Variables

Variable		Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
attitude toward use	Between Groups	0.11	1	0.11	0.16	0.69
	Within Groups	71.31	100	0.71		
	Total	71.42	101			
Intention to use	Between Groups	0.59	1	0.59	0,83	0.36
	Within Groups	70.74	100	0.71		
	Total	71.33	101			
frequency of use	Between Groups	4.20	1	4.20	2.96	0.09
	Within Groups	141.68	100	1,42		
	Total	145.87	101			

Table 4b:					
Means and Standard Deviations for the Two Participation Gro	ups				

Variable	Group	N	Mean	Std. Deviation
attitude toward use	Lower participation	55	3.98	0.78
	Higher participation	47	3.91	0.92
	Total	102	3.95	0.84
intention to use	Lower participation	55	3.42	0.73
	Higher participation	47	3.57	0.95
	Total	102	3.49	0.84
frequency of use	Lower participation	55	2.89	1.16
	Higher participation	47	3.30	1.23
	Total	102	3.08	1.20

Hypothesis 5. Tables 5a and 5b provide the results from ANOVA tests and the means and standard deviations for each of the respondent groups based on residence during formative years. No significant difference was found between the off reservation (residence during formative years = more time off the reservation) and the on reservation (residence during formative years = more time on the reservation) groups on the "Attitude toward use," "Intention to use," or "Frequency of use" variables (p>.05 in all three cases). Thus, no support was found for Hypothesis 5.

Table 5a:Analysis of Variance for Residence During Formative Years Differences
on Internet Acceptance Variables

Variable		Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
attitude toward use	Between Groups	- 0.44	1	0.44	0.61	0.44
	Within Groups	70.99	100	0.71		
<u> </u>	Total	71.42	101			
intention to use	Between Groups	0.35	1	0.35	0.49	0.49
	Within Groups	70.99	100	0.71		
	Total	71.33	101			
frequency of use	Between Groups	0.37	1	0.37	0.25	0.62
· •	Within Groups	145.50	100	1.46		
	Total	145.87	101			

Table 5b: Means and Standard Deviations for the Two Residence During Formative Years Groups

Variable	Group	N	Mean	Std. Deviation
attitude toward use	Off the reservation	20	4.08	0.78
	On the reservation	82	3.92	0.86
	Total	102	3.95	0.84
intention to use	Off the reservation	20	3.61	0.56
	On the reservation	82	3.46	0.90
	Total	102	3.49	0.84
frequency of use	Off the reservation	20	3.20	1.17
	On the reservation	82	3.05	1.21
	Total	102	3.08	1.20

DISCUSSION

The results found only partial support for hypothesis 1 regarding the relationship between age and the variables in the TAM model. More specifically, it appears that although there is not a significant difference among the younger and older American Indians in this tribe regarding their attitudes toward using the Internet or in their intentions to use the Internet, there is a significant difference between age groups when it comes to the actual frequency of use. The non-significant differences regarding attitudes toward use and intentions to use were surprising considering the earlier discussion regarding the cultural characteristics of American Indians. It was hypothesized that the older tribal members would be more apprehensive regarding their attitudes toward Internet use and intentions to use the Internet based on the perception that this group would consider the Internet as a threat to their culture. As hypothesized, this study did find that younger members of this tribe are using the Internet more frequently than older members. This might be due to the fact that the Internet is relatively new and that younger tribal members are being exposed to the Internet through education.

Hypothesis 2, regarding Internet acceptance based on educational level, and hypothesis 3, regarding Internet acceptance based on level of occupational status, were both supported and accepted. Hypothesis 4, regarding differences in Internet acceptance based on level of participation in traditional cultural activities, did not result in significant differences in the Internet acceptance variables and was subsequently rejected. Additionally, hypothesis 5, regarding differences in Internet acceptance based on primary residence during formative years, did not result in significant differences in the Internet acceptance variables either and, thus, it appears that hypothesis 5 should be rejected as well. However, it may be premature to fully reject hypothesis 5 at this time because the off reservation group represented only 20 percent of the sample, and this may have been too small of variation in the number of respondents in each group to make reliable comparisons.

The results are interesting given that one might think that participation in traditional cultural activities is most closely tied to having internalized traditional cultural values. The outcome of this hypothesis suggests that perhaps the assumption that those who participate more actively in traditional activities are also those who place higher value on traditional cultural values is both an external and internalized stereotype. Additionally, this is the only variable included in the five hypotheses in which adherence to traditional cultural values is not based on having been isolated within the culture versus having been

exposed to other cultures and outside influences. Therefore, perhaps the primary factor influencing one's internalization of traditional American Indian cultural values, and for the purpose of this study – Internet acceptance, are those factors that differentiate between tribal member employees that have been isolated within the traditional culture and those who have been exposed to other cultures and outside influences.

As predicted, the results of this study supported the basic premise of TAM (Davis, 1986) that two specific beliefs about the Internet, specifically, perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use, influence the potential user's attitude toward using the Internet, which then influences the user's intention to use the Internet, subsequently resulting in some degree of acceptance based on attitude toward use, intention to use, and actual usage. However, this study went further to demonstrate that traditional American Indian cultural values of collectivism, uncertainty avoidance, and power distance also potentially impact Internet acceptance on American Indian reservations. This conclusion is drawn based on the results of the differences in Internet acceptance based on educational level, hypothesis 2, and occupational status, hypothesis 3, which are argued to delineate differences in the degree to which respondents subscribe to traditional American Indian cultural values based on isolation within the traditional culture or exposure to other cultures and outside influences.

Although there are several other factors currently impacting the rate of Internet acceptance in Indian Country such as access, training, education, content, infrastructure, and sovereignty issues, this study demonstrates that isolated traditional American Indian cultural values can also potentially inhibit the rate of Internet acceptance on reservations. As the other various issues get resolved over time, the cultural issue may need to be

addressed if tribes are to capitalize on the economic opportunities afforded by the Internet.

Two Horses (1998), Howe (1998), Savard (1998), Ereaux (1998), and Warner (1998) warn of the potential exploitation of American Indian culture made possible through the massive reach of the Internet, the impact of low-context Internet communications on a traditional culture that values high-context, face-to-face communications, and other adverse impacts on tribes' efforts to preserve traditional cultural values on reservations. Although these concerns are warranted with regard to culturally specific information, and tribes must progress with caution, the Internet can also provide a potentially valuable economic development tool to American Indian reservations across the country in business related transactions and relationships.

The Internet has opened the door to e-commerce, allowing even small and home-based businesses access to global markets for their products and services. The Internet further allows tribes, tribal organizations, and tribal members to access these markets without having to leave their reservation homes. Additionally, in many ways, the Internet may be a useful tool to ultimately assist tribes in cultural preservation efforts.

Although certain information such as sacred sights, traditional cultural practices, and other cultural information may need protection from the mass distribution and potential exploitation made possible by the Internet, participating in the new Internet economy on an official business basis can potentially increase the cultural activities, and involvement in those activities, on reservations. If tribes, as well as individual tribal members, can increase their disposable incomes, then they will not only be able to stimulate their local economies, but they will have more time and money to invest in their involvement in

cultural events and activities. Examples of this phenomenon include having more money to travel to powwows, host powwows, and invest in cultural preservation efforts, cultural immersion programs, and land purchasing programs.

Furthermore, by participating in the Internet, tribes can increasingly impact Internet content and distribution, tailoring its capabilities to be more culturally appropriate to American Indian culture. Already American Indian web developers, Internet Service Providers, and American Indian-sponsored portals are emerging that provide culturally appropriate services to other American Indians on the Internet.

Finally, this thesis should serve as a valuable tool not only to tribes but also to non-Indians working with tribes to introduce, and generate use of, the Internet on American Indian reservations. This study supports the notion that culture is a potential intervening factor in technology acceptance, specifically the Internet. Therefore, if non-Indians and non-Indian institutions want to successfully assist tribes in developing the necessary tools such as infrastructure, training, etc. to capitalize on the Internet, then they will need to do so within the parameters of an existing culture that values collectivism, has high uncertainty avoidance in relation to non-Indians and non-Indian institutions, and accepts high power distance relationships within the tribe. Efforts might include emphasizing how the Internet can benefit valued collective groups such tribes, tribal members, and families in American Indian communities; offering support and training in the use of the Internet to help alleviate any uncertainties; and working cooperatively with tribal governments to ensure endorsement by tribal leadership of such activities.

Limitations

As mentioned previously, each American Indian tribe in the United States is a different nation and often holds highly diverse values. This not only applies to tribes, but it also applies to individual members of each tribe based on a variety of factors including whether or not the person was raised with traditional values or mainstream values. The argument in this study has been built around generalizations about American Indian culture, and any time such generalizations or stereotypes are made, there is a chance of misrepresentation of differing tribal groups or individuals. Therefore, the extent to which tribes fall on either end of any given cultural dimension will likely vary by tribe and/or individuals, and those generalizations made within the context of this study may be not be accurate for all tribes or all individual tribal members.

This study argued that adherence to traditional American Indian cultural values on the three dimensions of collectivism versus individualism, uncertainty avoidance, and power distance can be determined on American Indian reservations by factors such as educational level and occupational status, and based on the degree of exposure to groups of people from other cultures as well as other outside influences. However, these relationships were based on assumptions supported by argument rather than by empirical evidence. Although this potentially inhibits the data and resulting conclusions, the relationships are strong enough to warrant further study in the area of American Indian culture, or any culture, as an intervening factor in technology acceptance.

The hypotheses in this study were tested on a relatively small sample, and the criteria for respondent eligibility were narrowly defined. This limits the extent to which conclusions can be drawn based on the data, and a larger sample with less narrowly

defined criteria would have provided a larger variation for more reliable comparisons. For example, opening the criteria to all tribal members rather than the limitations placed on participation in this study might have produced different results. However, the results of this study suggest strong enough relationships between American Indian cultural dimensions and Internet acceptance to warrant further study. Furthermore, this study tested the relationship between two variables at a time, which may not fully represent the potential relationships between various other variables. For this reason, future work on the project will include regression analysis to expand on the comparisons between the variables under consideration in the study.

Recommendations

Given the limitations of the present study, recommendations can be made for future research. First, to provide real empirical support for the influence of American Indian culture, within Hofstede's cultural dimensions (Hofstede, 1991), as an intervening factor in technology acceptance, culturally appropriate measures should be developed and thoroughly field-tested to measure these dimensions of culture as they pertain to tribal member employees on a reservation. Next, future research should be conducted on a broader basis to ensure the inclusion of a variety of tribes based on the potential and likely cultural differences between various tribes. Finally, future research could be better served by gathering data from both on-reservation and off-reservation American Indian respondents to conduct a more comprehensive comparison between tribal members who are more clearly impacted by the traditional cultural values that are within the parameters of the reservation versus those who have been more significantly influenced by non-Indian culture.

CONCLUSION

In summary, this study was intended to further the literature and understanding of American Indian culture as a potential intervening factor in the constructs of the Technology Acceptance Model and, specifically, the impact on Internet acceptance. In fact, the acceptance of two of the five hypotheses and the rejection of only one indicates that there is, in fact, reason to believe that culture must be considered by both American Indians and non-Indians when faced with the challenges and opportunities associated with introducing the Internet in Indian Country. Future research will be required to provide more empirical evidence for the connection between American Indian cultures as an intervening factor in the Technology Acceptance Model and increase our current understanding. Furthermore, future research should test the Veiga et. al. (1999) model in terms of how culture might influence relationships between the various constructs in the Technology Acceptance Model.

REFERENCES

Agarwal, Ritu, and Prasad, Jayesh, 1999, "Are Individual Differences Germane to the Acceptance of New Information Technologies?," *Decision Sciences*, 30, 2, 361-391.

Black, Sherry Salway, 1996, "Indigenous Economics," Winds of Change, Autumn: 66-69.

Cajete, Gregory A., 1994, Looking to the Mountain: An Ecology of Indigenous Education, Kivaki Press, Durango, CO.

Casey, James, Ross, Randy, and Warren, Marcia, 1999, "Native Networking: Telecommunications and Information Technology in Indian Country," Benton Foundation.

Chau, P.Y.K., 1996, "An Empirical Assessment of a Modified Technology Acceptance Model," *Journal of Management Information Systems*, 13, 2, 185-204.

Clow, Richmond L., 2001, Interview, Native American Studies, The University of Montana.

Cornell, Stephen, 1987, "American Indians, American Dreams, and the Meaning of Success," *American Indian Culture and Research Journal*, 11, 4, 59-70.

Davis, F., 1989, "Perceived Usefulness, Perceived Ease of Use, and User Acceptance of Information Technology," *MIS Quarterly*, 13, 3, 319-340.

Davis, F.D., Bayozzi, R.P., and Warshaw, P.R., 1989, "User Acceptance of Computer Technology: A Comparison of Two Theoretical Models," Management Science, 35, 8, 982-1003.

Doll, William J., Hendrickson, Anthony, and Deng, Diaodong, 1998, "Using Davis's Perceived Usefulness and Ease-of-Use Instruments for Decision Making: A Confirmatory and Multigroup Invariance Analysis," *Decision Sciences*, 29, 4, 839-869.

Enrollment Office, 2001, Telephone Interview, Flathead Reservation, Pablo, MT.

Ereaux, Jim, 1998, "The Impact of Technology on Salish Kootenai College," Wicazo Sa Review: A Journal of Native American Studies, Fall, 117-135.

Fey, Harold E., and McNickle, D'Arcy, 1959, Indians and Other Americans: Two Ways of Life Meet, Harper & Brothers, New York, NY.

Gilliland, Hap, and Reyhner, Jon, 1988, *Teaching the Native American*, Kendall/Hunt, Dubuque, IA.

Hedley, R. Alan, 1998, "Technological Diffusion or Cultural Imperialism? Measuring the Information Revolution," *International Journal of Comparative Sociology*, 39, 2, 198-213.

Hirschfelder, Arlene, Molin, Paulette Fairbanks, and Wakim, Yvonne, 1999, American Indian Stereotypes in the World of Children, The Scarecrow Press, MD.

Hofstede, Geert, 1993, "Cultural Constraints in Management Theories," *The Academy of Management Executive*, 7, 1, 81-95.

Hofstede, Geert, 1991, Cultures and Organizations: Software of the Mind, McGraw-Hill, London, UK.

Hofstede, Geert, 1984, Culture's Consequences: International Differences in Work-Related Values, Sage Publications, Newbury Park, CA.

Howe, Craig, 1998, "Cyberspace Is No Place for Tribalism," Wicazo Sa Review: A Journal of Native American Studies, Fall, 19-28.

Hoxie, Frederick E., 1994, "Why Treaties?," Buried Roots & Indestructible Seeds: The Survival of American Indian Life in Story, History, and Spirit (edited by Mark Lindquist and Martin Zanger), The University of Wisconsin Press, Madison, WI.

Kotler, Steven, 1996, "Asia for Asians," Wired, August: 62.

"Labor Market Information on the Indian Labor Force: A National Report," 1997, U.S. Bureau of Indian Affairs.

Light, Harriett K., and Martin, Ruth E., 1986, "American Indian Families," Journal of American Indian Education, 26: 1-5.

"Local Estimates of Resident Indian Population Living On-Or-Near Reservation by Tribe or Reservation," 1997, Labor Market Information on the Indian Labor Force, U.S. Bureau of Indian Affairs.

Lopach, James J., Brown, Margery Hunter, and Clow, Richmond L., 1998, *Tribal Government Today*, University Press of Colorado, Niwot, CO.

Mathieson, K., 1991, "Predicting User Intentions: Comparing the Technology Acceptance Model with the Theory of Planned Behavior," *Information Systems Research*, 2, 3, 173-191.

McCluskey, Murton L., 1997, *A Curriculum Guide to Learning About American Indians*, Distributed by Office of Public Instruction, Helena, MT.

Oppelt, Norman T., 1989, "Cultural Values and Behaviors Common Among Tribal American Indians," *NASPA Journal*, 26: 167-174.

Reed, Mike, 1991, "Videodiscs Help American Indians Learn English and Study Heritage," *T H E Journal (Technological Horizons in Education)*, 19, 3, 96-98.

Roy, Loriene, 1998, "Four Directions: An Indigenous Educational Model," Wicazo Sa Review: A Journal of Native American Studies, Fall, 59-69.

Sanders, Danielle, 1987, "Cultural Conflict: An Important Factor in the Academic Failure of American Indian Students," *Journal of Multicultural Counseling and Development*, 15: 81-90.

Savard, Jean Francois, 1998, "A Theoretical Debate on the Social and Political Implications of Internet Implementation for the Inuit of Nunavut," *Wicazo Sa Review: A Journal of Native American Studies*, Fall, 83-97.

Smith, Dean Howard, 1994, "The Issue of Compatibility Between Cultural Integrity and Economic Development Among Native American Tribes," *American Indian Culture and Research Journal*, 18, 2, 177-205.

Stiffler, Lisa, 2000, "Tulalips Hope to Join the Computer Age While Protecting Their Heritage," *Seattle Post-Intelligence Reporter*, August 18.

Straub, D. Keil, M., and Brenner, W., 1997, "Testing the Technology Acceptance Model Across Cultures: A Three Country Study," *Information & Management*, 33: 1-11.

Swanson, E.B., 1988, Information System Implementation: Bridging the Gap Between Design and Utilization, Irwin, Homewood, IL.

Taylor, Shirley, and Todd, Peter, 1995, "Assessing IT Usage: The Role of Prior Experience," *MIS Quarterly*, 19, 4, 561-571.

Thompson, R., Higgins, C, and Howell, J., 1991, "Personal Computing: Toward a Conceptual Model of Utilization," *MIS Quarterly*, 15, 1, 125-143.

Trosper, Ronald L., 1995, "Traditional American Indian Economic Policy," American Indian Culture and Research Journal, 19, 1, 65-95.

Two Horses, Michael, 1998, "Gathering Around the Electronic Fire: Persistence and Resistance in Electronic Formats," *Wicazo Sa Review: A Journal of Native American Studies*, Fall, 29-43.

Veiga, John F., 2000, "Web Survey," Prepared with scoring information, March 8, 2000.

Veiga, John F., Floyd, Steven, and Dechant, Kathleen, 1999, "The Technology Acceptance Model: Toward a Cross-Cultural Perspective," Presented at the International Association for Management Technology, March.

Warner, Linda, 1998, "Technology Issues in Indian Country Today," Wicazo Sa Review: A Journal of Native American Studies, Fall, 71-81.

www.ncai.org/indianissues/DigitalDivide, Accessed January 2000, "American Indians & the Digital Divide," National Congress of American Indians.

Zinn, Howard, 1995, A People's History of the United States, 1492 – Present, HarperCollins, New York, NY.

APPENDIX A: The Technology Acceptance Model



Source: Davis, Bagozzi, & Warshaw, 1989

APPENDIX B: Cultural Extension of the Technology Acceptance Model



Source: Veiga, Floyd, Dechant, 1999

APPENDIX C: Tribal Council Approval to Conduct Study



The Tribal Council of the Reservation took action today February 27, 2001 to authorize and support Trina Finley in her efforts to conduct her research and gather survey data on the reservation of tribal member employees. This data will be used in her MBA thesis.

Sinderely, Executive Secretar

APPENDIX D: The University of Montana Institutional Review Board Approval

For Internel Use Only The I Submit one completed copy of this Checklist, includin The IRB meets monthly to evaluate proposals, and app <i>Procedures</i> for details.	University of Montana VAL REVIEW BOARD CHECKLIST ag any required attachments, for e proval is granted for one academi	(Rev. 7/00) (Rev. 7/00) FEB 2 8 2001 (IRB) UNIVERSITY OF MONTANA VICE PRESIDENT FOR RESEARCH ach course involving human subjects. c yoar, See IRB Guidelines and
Project Director: Trina L. Finley	Dept.: BADM	Phone: 728-2105
Signature: (Minic M. July	. 19 an 1999 an 2019 an 1999 an 1999 an 1999 an 1997 an	Date: 2-28-01
Co-Director(s):	Dept.:	Phone:
Project Title: American Indian Culture as an	Intervening Factor in the To	echnology Acceptance Model
Project Description: MBA Thesis: Designed predicting factor in Internet usage and accept	l to look at culture, America ance	n Indian culture specifically, as a
All investigators on this project must complete the NII Certification: I/We have completed the course - Signature Date Chris A Anley 2-25-01	I self-study course on protection (Use additional page if necessary) Signature	of human research subjects. Date
Students Only: Faculty Supervisor: <u>Dr. Jeffrey Shay</u> Signature: <u>My signature confirms that Thave feat the</u> (My signature confirms that I will super-	Dept.: <u>BADM</u> <u>May</u> he IRB Clocklist and attachments rvise this discarch project,)	Phone: 243-5880
ungengan mara akara ata ang tarini a an marang <mark>ang da</mark> n an kanan na prosisi ata sa ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang	For IRB Use Only	аран сулоналарарынын төрөлөн (араланарынын оно тор тор канандыруул онуу тор канантыр
IRB Determination:		
Approved Exemption from Review		
X Approved by Administrative Review		
Full IRB Determination: Approved Conditional Approval (see attached Resubmit Proposal (see attached Disapproved (see attached mem Signature IRB Chair:	hed momo) 1 memo) ⁰⁾ Rylleed	Date: 3/ 8/01 (aver)

APPENDIX E: Internet Acceptance Survey with Notes Regarding Adaptations

Introduction

I am conducting a study for my graduate thesis at The University of Montana. This study is designed to examine various factors that are believed to influence one's use and acceptance of the Internet. I have asked you to participate as a tribal member employee from this reservation for your insights into Internet usage in the tribal offices on this reservation.

This research is designed to help tribes better understand how the Internet can be used most beneficially as a tool to help them meet their goals and objectives. Additionally, it is intended to help non-Indians understand how to most effectively assist tribes in adopting the Internet in a way that will be most beneficial.

The study will involve approximately 100 participants, and all of the responses will be aggregated. The identity of the reservation, tribes, and individual participants who participate will remain anonymous. Your responses will be kept confidential, and no identifying factors that could tie you to your responses or to the study will be asked or otherwise kept on record.

Although permission to conduct this study has been granted by the Tribal Council, you are in no way required to participate. Your participation is voluntary, and you may terminate at any time.

Internet Acceptance Survey with Notes Regarding Adaptations

Based on your experience working for a tribal organization, please CIRCLE the degree to which you either agree or disagree with each of the following statements:

	Strongly			<u> </u>	Strongly
	Disagree	Disagree	Undecided	Agree	Agree
Perceived Near-Term Useful	ness (Chau	, 1996; Da	vis 1989) Ra	ther than	
beginning statements with "Us	ing (A) car	" stater	nents were b	egun with	1 "The
Internet" applying the conte	ext to the In	ternet and	eliminating	the word	"can."
1. The Internet makes it easier to				····	
do my job.	1	2	3	4	5
2. The Internet enables me to					
accomplish tasks more quickly.	1	2	3	4	5
3. The Internet improves my job					
performance.	1	2	3	4	5
4. The Internet increases my					
productivity.	1	2	3	4	5
5. The Internet enhances my					
effectiveness on the job.	1	2	3	4	5
6. I find the Internet useful in my					
job.	11	2	3	4	5
Perceived Long-Term Useful	ness (Chau	ı, 1996; Th	ompson et. a	al. (1991)	The
words "can increase" were rep	laced with	"will incre	ase."		
7. Knowledge of the Internet will					
increase my flexibility of changing	ļ				
jobs.	1	2	3	4	_5
8. Knowledge of the Internet will					
increase the opportunity for more					
meaningful work.	1	2	3	4	5
9. Knowledge of the Internet will					
increase the opportunity for			1		
preferred future job assignments.	1	2	3	4	5
10. Knowledge of the Internet will					
increase the opportunity to gain job			_		_
security.	1	2	3	4	5
Perceived Ease of Use (Chau,	1996; Dav	ris, 1989) T	he wording	in stateme	ent 11
was changed from "Learning t	o operate (.	A) is" to	"Learning t	he Interne	et was,"
and the wording in all statemer	nts was cha	nged from	"(A)" to "th	e Internet	.,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,
11. Learning the Internet was easy	I	1			
for me.	1	2	3	4	5
12. I find it easy to get the Internet					
to do what I want it to do.	1	2	3	4	5
13. My interaction with the					
Internet is clear and		1			
understandable.	1	2	3	4	5
14. I find the Internet to be					
flexible to interact with.	1	2	3	4	5
15. It was easy for me to become					
skillful at using the Internet.	1	2	3	4	5
16. I find the Internet easy to use.	1	2	3	4	5

Internet Acceptance Survey with Notes Regarding Adaptations

Attitude (Mathieson, 1991) T	he wording	was chang	ged from "w	ould be" t	o "is,"
from "the spreadsheet" to "the	Internet." a	nd from "r	nv calculato	or for the	-
assignment" to "the previous r	leans of ga	thering and	I sharing inf	ormation'	' in all
statements: from "yery good/ye	my had" to	"much het	ter" in state	mont $17.f$	Tom
statements, nom very good/ve	1 y Dau (0				10
very desireable/very undesiral	ble to mu	ich more de	estrable in	statement	18; and
"rather than" was reduced to "t	han'' in sta	tements 17	and 18.		
17. I think the Internet is much					
better than previous means of			_		_
gathering and sharing information.	1	2	3	4	5
18. In my opinion, it is much more	1		•		
desirable to use the internet than					
previous means of gathering and	4	2	2	4	E
sharing information.	1	2		4	5
19. It is much better to use the					
Internet than the previous means of	1.	2	2	Α	5
gathering and sharing information.	1	<u> </u>	3	4	3
Subjective Norms (Mathieson	, 1991) Th	e wording	was changed	i from "I	iose
people who are important to m	e would…'	' to "Those	coworkers	who are c	losest to
me" in statement 20; the wor	rding in all	statements	s was change	ed from "t	he
spreadsheet" to "the Internet" a	and from "r	ny calculat	or for the as	signment	' to "the
previous means of gathering ar	nd sharing i	nformation	ז."	U	
20 Those coworkers who are					
closest to me strongly support					
using the Internet rather than the					
previous means of gathering and					
sharing information.	1	2	3	4	5
21. People whose opinions I value					
would prefer me to use the Internet					
rather than the previous means of					
gathering and sharing information.	1	2	3	4	5
22. I think those people who are					
important to me want me to use the					
Internet rather than the previous					
means of gathering and sharing			ļ		
information.	1	2	3	4	5
Level of Support (Veiga, 200	0: Thompso	on, 1991) T	he wording	was chan	ged from
"GGL" to "Internet."			U		
23 I have received sufficient			1		
training to understand the Internet	1	2	3	4	5
24. I have been encouraged by my	·				
supervisor to use the Internet	1	2	3	4	5
25. I have been given all the tools				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
I need to help me effectively use					
the Internet.	1	2	3	4	5
26. I feel my supervisor has fully	· · ·				
supported me in developing my					
skills with the Internet.	1	2	3	4	5
27. Senior management of my unit				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
has been generally supportive of		1	1	1	
the Internet.	1	2	3	4	5
28. Assistance is readily available					
to help me with the Internet.	1	2	3	4	5

Internet Acceptance Survey with Notes Regarding Adaptations

Intention to Use (Veiga, 2000	; Mathieson	n, 1991) Th	ie wording v	was chang	ed from		
"GGL" to "Internet" in all statements and from "software to do my work" to							
"means of gathering and sharir	ng informat	ion."		-			
29. I intend to use the Internet							
rather than other means of							
gathering and sharing information							
to do my work.	1	2	3	4	5		
30. I have every intention of							
adopting the Internet in my work.	1	2	3	4	5		
31. My intention is to use the							
Internet whenever I can.	1	2	3	4	5		
Behavioral Intention to Use (Chau, 1996) The word "Internet" was inserted to							
adapt the statements to the tech	nology un	der conside	ration.				
32. I always try to use the Internet							
to do a task whenever it has a							
feature to help me perform it.	1	2	3	4	5		
33. I always try to use the Internet							
on as many occasions as possible.	1	2	3	4	5		
Frequency of Use (Veiga, 2000; Chau, 1996; Thompson, 1991) The wording was							
changed from "GGL" to "Inter	net."						
34. I currently use the Internet					1		
very frequently.	1	2	3	4	5		
35. I use the Internet often.	1	2	3	4	5		

The following questions provide some information on your background. At this point I would like to remind you again that your <u>responses are confidential and</u> <u>anonymous</u>.

Personal Information:

1. Are you a tribal member on this reservation? _____YES ____NO (Demographic question added for the purpose of this study.)

2. Education (please check (\checkmark) your highest education level only): (Education demographic)

A.	Some High School
B.	High School Degree
C.	Some College
D.	College Associate's Degree
D.	College Bachelor's Degree
E.	Some Graduate School
F.	Graduate School Degree
G.	Other (please specify)

Internet Acceptance Survey with Notes Regarding Adaptations

3. Did you live more months on or off the reservation between the ages of 1 and 14? (Demographic added for the purpose of this study to determine residence during the respondent's formative years.)

ON THE RESERVATION OFF THE RESERVATION

4. Which of the following best describes your current job position? (Occupation demographic)

 MANAGER
 PROFESSIONAL

 PARAPROFESSIONAL
 CLERICAL

5. What is your gender? _____ FEMALE _____ MALE (Gender demographic)

- 6. What is your age? (Age demographic)
 - _____ 21-30 years _____ 31-40 years _____ 31-60 years
 - Over 60 years

7. To what extent do you participate in the following activities? (The remaining questions are demographic questions designed to measure the degree of participation in traditional American Indian cultural activities designed for the purpose of this study.)

				Most of	
	Never	Rarely	Sometimes	the time	Always
8. Powwows on this					
reservation	1	2	3	4	5
9. Other powwows	1	2	3	4	5
10. Culture camps	1	2	3	4	5
11. Wakes	1	2	3	4	5
12. Funerals	1	2	3	4	5
13. Jump dances	1	2	3	4	5
14. Traditional medicinal					
practices	1	2	3	4	5
15. Sweat lodge	1	2	3	4	5
16. Formal or informal language					
lessons	1	2	3	4	5
17. Hide tanning	1	2	3	4	5
18. Beading	1	2	3	4	5

	Not at all				Fluently
19. How well do you speak your native language?	1	2	3	4	5

Thank you for your participation in this study. If you are interested in the results of the study, a copy of the completed thesis will be available at The University of Montana library.